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“It is a region of black riches concealed under green velvet.”

—Oliver F. Holden, mining engineer, September 1921








[image: Image: Map]







PART I BLACK WATER FEBRUARY 2004–MAY 2005







CHAPTER 1

Kevin Thompson had been hunting for evidence all afternoon. A lone figure trekking through a rolling three-thousand-acre property in Mingo County, West Virginia, the forty-year-old attorney had climbed over barbed-wire fences and hiked up and down ridges on behalf of a client who was suing Arch Coal, one of the nation’s biggest coal companies, for contaminating his land. With his tan floppy hat, a backpack stuffed with topographic maps, and binoculars strung around his neck, Thompson looked more like a reality-TV explorer than a lawyer. For safety reasons, he was wearing steel-toe boots and carrying a hard hat. He knew he probably should have told the coal company that he would be out on his client’s property that day but he wanted to cover the ground without interference. A quarter of a mile away, beyond a rise, bulldozers and giant rock trucks were moving dirt on a flattened ridge, and coal that had been buried for millions of years lay black as velvet in the sun.

As he hiked up a valley fill, a steep slope of churned-up dirt, Thompson scanned the ground for signs that the workers hired by an Arch subsidiary had illegally dumped fuel and machinery there. On previous visits, Thompson had found tainted water seeping out of the ground. As an environmental engineer had recently told him, black water meant diesel was oozing to the surface, and red water came from rusting equipment. While hiking higher, he listened for the beeping of trucks on the other side of the ridge. He knew that as long as the miners were moving coal around, he didn’t have to worry about rocks raining down on him from another blast on the mountain.

Thompson’s client James Simpkins was a prominent local businessman who sold lumber and mining equipment. He supported mining on his remote spread and had even mined large tracts of it himself, slopes that were now covered with thick grasses where his prized Angus cattle grazed. But he believed the coal company had been negligent and contaminated his property with fuel and machinery. He’d hired Thompson a few months earlier after watching him win a sizable settlement against Arch for an adjacent landowner. Simpkins told people he admired the young man’s hustle. He liked Thompson, he said, even if he was a lawyer.

Thompson had a full head of light auburn hair, a resonant baritone voice, and an occasional stutter when too many thoughts crowded his brain. He also had a wife and daughter at home in New Orleans, where he rowed crew on the bayous to keep in shape. In the 1990s, he had built a successful litigation consulting business there and narrowly missed making a fortune when a chance to sell it fell through. But then an undeniable urge had led him to stake a claim as an environmental lawyer in southern West Virginia. After years of working as a consultant, he found he was drawn to the detective work of litigation as much as he was to arguing before a judge in a courtroom. And the coalfields were only a two-hour drive south from his hometown of Point Pleasant, close enough that he could stay there and keep an eye on his aging mother.

It was February 2004, and after working for a year and a half on two contamination lawsuits against Arch, Thompson was still getting his footing in the coalfields. He hadn’t found any new evidence on the valley fill that day, but before climbing down he stopped to take in the view. The series of ridges around Simpkins’s property was called Mystery Mountain. And that seemed appropriate enough—this part of the state was still largely a mystery to Thompson. Now the gray and ocher ridges of the Appalachian Plateau, still bare from winter, stretched into the blue distance like swells in a choppy sea. “It’s the most amazing view you’ve ever seen,” he often told people. “It’s crazy up there.”

On his way to his car, Thompson remembered he had an appointment with three potential clients: a preacher named Larry Brown, his brother Ernie Brown, and another man named B.I. Sammons. He had a scrap of paper with directions to a church nearly an hour away. He threw his gear into his Ford Explorer and realized he had just enough time to make it. He thought about stopping to clean up—his right hand, which he’d snagged on a fence, had dried blood on it and his pants were caked with dirt—but he decided showing up on time was more important. All he knew about the three men who wanted to meet him were their names and that they lived in a place called Rawl. It didn’t strike Thompson as a complicated matter. B.I. had simply said that their wells had gone bad. As he drove down Route 49 beside the Tug Fork, a winding tributary of the Big Sandy River on West Virginia’s rugged border with Kentucky, Thompson figured a coal company must somehow be involved.



When Thompson turned onto Dick Williamson Branch Road, he found an old coal-mining community set in a hollow between low hills. The square houses with porches and newer double-wide homes were crowded close to a single lane of pavement, their tiny yards hemmed in by chain-link fences. Thompson slowed as a few barking dogs trotted into the road. At the top of the hollow, which was already in shadow, he came to a plain white church with a steeple. He noticed an ancient coal company house next to it that was weathered and gray. Then Thompson saw bright plastic toys in the yard and realized a family was living there.

Inside the Rawl Church of God in Jesus Name, more than fifty people filled the pews, and at first Thompson thought he had interrupted an evening service. The last of the sunlight was hitting imitation stained-glass windows: a white dove and a ray of yellow light against a scattering of abstract blue and green shapes. A few heads turned when Thompson entered, and then a tall man with narrow shoulders and large, silver-framed glasses approached him and asked if he was a lawyer.

“I’m not dressed like one, but I am,” Thompson said. The man introduced himself as Larry Brown, pastor of the church, and Thompson realized that all the people in the pews had been waiting for him. Larry Brown brought Thompson over to his brother Ernie, who had dark-brown hair and looked about twenty pounds heavier and ten years younger. Then Larry introduced Billy Sammons Jr., who went by B.I. and wore a plain white trucker hat over his white hair. Ernie Brown and B.I. seemed eager to talk, but Larry hushed them. “This is the fella we want to hear from,” he said.

Brown walked Thompson up the blue-carpeted aisle to an altar that looked more like a stage set for a high school band concert, with microphones, acoustic guitars, and a drum kit. A seven-foot-tall white cross, with a wooden crucifix at its center, hung on the wall. “Just tell the people a little about yourself,” Larry Brown said.

Thompson looked out on the room full of people. After spending the day wandering around with only his own thoughts, it took him a few seconds to adjust to the crowd. But once he started talking, the words came easily. He introduced himself and said he focused on cases involving contamination from mines and other sites, and then he cut the tension in the room by apologizing for his appearance.

“I’ve been tramping through bushes and climbing over and under fences, looking for evidence, and I’m embarrassed to be tracking mud through your church here,” Thompson said. His own slight drawl loosened the more he spoke. He explained that he was from Point Pleasant, that he’d gotten his undergraduate degree from Marshall University in Huntington and his law degree at Tulane University in New Orleans. He shared with them that he split his time between Louisiana and West Virginia and that he had sued oil and gas companies that contaminated property. Not shy about selling himself, he said that he had just won a big settlement against Arch Coal and that he’d been out that afternoon in the county for a second case against the company.

“I’m not against coal miners,” Thompson said, knowing he had only one chance to win over the crowd, many of whom looked as though they had come directly from mining or construction jobs. “I love coal miners.” He also knew that in West Virginia, making such a statement could sound like checking a box. But, he went on to say, he believed that coal companies had devastated the state for too long. With his voice rising, he said coal barons, most of whom had never set foot in the state, had oppressed West Virginia for more than a hundred years and left miners and their families with a poisoned land and water. A few voices mumbled in agreement. Others seemed less receptive to that message, but he couldn’t care about that now.

Standing before the people, he saw faces that looked weary and distrustful, others that looked angry, and a few that were already staring up at him with hope. He leaned in and said he wanted to find out more about people’s water. “Can someone tell me about your wells and the water in your homes?”

In the back of the church, Larry Brown leaned toward his wife, Brenda, and said, “We’re going to hire this guy.” Over the past few weeks, he and his brother and B.I. had invited other lawyers, including one from Washington and another from New York, to Rawl. They had shown up wearing expensive suits and promised they could win a lawsuit but said the people would have to get themselves organized first. So far, Thompson hadn’t promised anything. But he spoke with more passion than the other lawyers. And he already seemed to know more about coal and West Virginia than the other attorneys had. Brown saw Thompson’s muddy boots and the dried blood on his hand and believed the young lawyer wasn’t afraid to get dirty looking for evidence. It was exactly the kind of commitment the people in Rawl needed.

Thompson later recalled that Brown asked how many people in the crowd had had gallbladder and kidney problems and that a smattering of hands went into the air each time. He asked how many people had had rashes. More hands went up. Many people hadn’t discussed their health problems with their neighbors. But now people began speaking over each other, expressing their worries and asking Thompson questions all at once. Four or five people had brought jars of gray and rusty-looking water they’d filled up at their taps.

“Massey’s been poisoning us,” Larry’s brother Ernie said.

Thompson had of course heard of Massey Energy—it was the biggest coal company in West Virginia. But he didn’t know much about its operations. He learned that day that Massey’s Rawl Sales & Processing subsidiary had a preparation plant that cleaned coal on the other side of the ridge above Rawl. Some people thought the company’s impoundment—a man-made reservoir created to store coal slurry, the liquid waste from the plant—had been leaking deep into the ground.

Residents were attributing a wide range of problems to their water. Thompson heard stories of broken water heaters, corroding pipes, and filter systems that burned out in a month. Larry Brown told Thompson that he had gotten boils on his legs that he believed were caused by bathing in the water. He said his wife had gotten them too, and that his daughter had had two miscarriages.

“Good Lord, I’m sorry to hear that,” Thompson replied.

After the meeting wound down, Larry Brown explained that some of his neighbors had been wary of attending. People along Route 49—not just in Rawl, but in the three neighboring communities of Lick Creek, Merrimac, and Sprigg—had been living with bad water for years. Some were afraid they or a family member could lose their job at Rawl Sales or another coal company if they publicly criticized Massey. Whenever Brown organized a community meeting, he said, he feared that some attendees were there just to listen in and report back to Massey. As Thompson stood listening, several people mentioned Massey’s CEO, Don Blankenship, with a mixture of defiance and fear, and said he was to blame, without offering a clear reason. Working on his cases against Arch Coal, Thompson had heard Blankenship’s name come up. But he could tell that it carried a different weight in Rawl.

Thompson told Larry, Ernie, and B.I. that he would discuss what he’d seen and heard with some lawyers he’d been partnering with, but that it looked like the people in the community might very well have a strong case if the water showed contamination from mining. He knew he needed a more detailed picture of people’s health conditions, and after the church meeting he gave Ernie and B.I. a health survey and asked them to get as many filled out as they could.

When he left, Thompson thought about one thing Larry Brown had said about Massey.

“People are scared of the company,” Larry had said. “We have no confidence in them, because of the things that’s happened in the past. We been done like that in the past.” But he’d said the time had come for the people to stand up.



Thompson had been staying at his mother’s house in Point Pleasant, and when he got back that night, he was still buzzing. He called his wife, Kathleen, at home in New Orleans and told her about the jars of gray and rust-colored water, the long list of health problems, the concerned faces in the crowd. He was moved, but it was hard to put his exact feeling into words. He had felt the anger in the room and that the people were ready to fight. All they needed was an advocate.

“There could be a couple hundred or more plaintiffs,” Thompson said. He realized he could threaten a class action. Based on his recent experience with Arch Coal, he believed Massey was likely responsible for the water contamination in these four communities and that he could force the company to settle within six months to a year.

“We’re going to make twenty million dollars,” he said, guessing at what he thought Massey would have to pay in a settlement.

Kathleen, who had managed litigation for an insurance company before marrying Thompson, told him that the case sounded compelling—and horrifying. She was more right than she knew.

In his excitement, Thompson had no inkling that over the next seven years the case would come to dominate his life, eventually threatening his marriage, his finances, and his safety. That by taking it on, he would become deeply involved in the lives of hundreds of people in Rawl and its neighboring communities along Route 49. Or that the conflict would pit him against one of the nation’s most powerful coal companies and its CEO, just as the industry was about to go through a series of historic shocks, plunging Thompson into one of the most important environmental issues of the day: the struggle of ordinary citizens to hold companies and elected officials accountable for failing to protect their drinking water.



Over the next few weeks, Thompson kept in contact with Larry, Ernie, and B.I., but a visit to Ernie and Carmelita Brown’s house made the strongest impression on him. The couple lived alongside Route 49, just west of Rawl, in the middle of a tight curve in the road. It was a picturesque spot. Across the two-lane state road, a grove of trees in a hollow sloped down toward the Tug Fork. Thick woods surrounded the Browns’ property. To the right, set back in the trees and partly camouflaged by overgrowth, there was an abandoned wooden house that was easy to miss from the road, another sign of the area’s coal-mining history hidden in plain sight. When Thompson parked at the Browns’ for the first time, their own house, with its reddish-brown beams, reminded him of a Swiss chalet. A set of wooden stairs led to a side door that opened onto the kitchen on the second floor, where Thompson was hit with a smell of rotten eggs that choked his throat and made his eyes water.

The odor was so severe that Thompson couldn’t believe that the Browns were moving around the place without seeming to notice it themselves. But as they explained, they had stopped being able to smell it.

Ernie and Carmelita walked Thompson down a hallway to their bathroom, where Carmelita had first seen the water turn black. That was all the way back in about 1983, she said. Some twenty years later, neither could remember the exact date. But Carmelita vividly recalled turning the faucet on to draw a bath for herself one evening and watching with alarm as dark-gray water with fine black particles in it filled the tub. Not knowing what to do, she had called Ernie into the room and they stood together, waiting to see if the water would run clear again. For months, the water did seem to return to normal. But then it turned gray again, and the episodes became more frequent over time.

Ernie brought up the big impoundment—the one Thompson had heard about at the church meeting—on the other side of the mountain. Thompson knew little about slurry or what went into cleaning coal at a preparation plant. But he listened to Ernie’s theories about the potential link between the Rawl Sales operation and the family’s well.

A former Massey miner, Ernie said that at first he had thought the impoundment was too far away to affect their well, which was 220 feet deep and partly cased in cement. But he came to suspect that slurry was escaping from the impoundment and making its way under their house. Ernie also believed that blasting by a contractor for Rawl Sales in the early 1980s had cracked the earth under the impoundment. At the time, the blasts had felt like small earthquakes, knocking pictures from walls and cracking windows in their neighbors’ homes. The Browns had sensed the ground move beneath their own house. “We figured it was the coal company doing something somewhere, up to no good,” Ernie said.

Some twenty years after Carmelita first noticed the water changing, their bathtub and sink and toilet bowl were all stained black. Steam from the shower had given the pink walls a grayish tint. Ernie hauled out old plumbing fixtures he’d had to replace when the water had eaten through them. He said he had even been forced to replace electrical outlets, after they had been corroded by the gas permeating the house. Carmelita said she had discovered that if she left a new penny on a table in the washroom, the top side would turn black after a few days while the unexposed side remained shiny. “If it’s doing all this, what do you think it’s doing to us?” Ernie asked.

Ernie wore his dark-brown hair neatly parted to the side and kept his mustache carefully trimmed. His toughness and punctiliousness both came through when he spoke. He had grown up in Lick Creek, less than a mile away from Rawl, and his mining career had ended in 1989, when he’d badly injured his back while operating a cutting machine for a contractor in a Massey mine. Since then, he had been forced to live off disability insurance. Years of frustration over their water had left him jaded when it came to Massey. Now he sat at the kitchen table and read his Bible every evening, looking for passages to speak on at the Sprigg Freewill Baptist Church, where he and Carmelita were active members. Like his brother Larry, he had a deep faith that he had begun practicing later in life.

Carmelita, who went by Carm, had grown up in a small hollow called Road Branch about ten miles north of Williamson that was later cleared to make way for Route 119, the four-lane highway. Her brown eyes had shadows under them that gave her oval face a melancholy cast. But she seemed less weighed down by life than her husband, and she laughed when she recounted growing up in Mingo County. As a young girl, she had helped her father, a moonshiner friendly with the county’s corrupt politicians, tend to his stills, carrying leaves in burlap sacks into the hills to cover up the equipment he had partially buried in locations he kept secret from everyone but his daughters and a partner of his. She said her father gave jars of moonshine to officials at the county courthouse and kept a stash under her grandfather’s church on a hill, and that he sometimes crawled under the building and listened to the service going on above him. “Dad would lay back under there and drink moonshine while they was up there preaching,” Carmelita said, smiling at the image. “So he got the Word preached to him.”

She had met Ernie in 1973 when he was eighteen and she was fourteen, though at the time she’d lied and told him she was fifteen, because she was jealous that her older sister was getting all the attention from boys in the area. It was something the couple laughed about now. After dating Ernie for a year, Carmelita dropped out of the tenth grade to marry him, and the couple had been inseparable ever since.

For years now, the bad water had cast a cloud over every aspect of the Browns’ lives, from their health to their finances. Carmelita handed Thompson folders full of medical bills and letters she had written to a congressman when she couldn’t get health coverage. She had suffered her first bout of kidney stones in 1993 and the cycle repeated itself, sending her to the hospital every few years. She and Ernie blamed the water for the stones and a host of other problems: headaches, diarrhea, itchy red patches on their backs, necks, and arms.

Even though they had stopped drinking water from their well, Carmelita had continued doing their laundry in the water. They took short showers but sometimes had to grab a wall afterward, because the steam made them dizzy and burned their eyes. All these years later, the water still ran black on random days. Carmelita showed Thompson a spiral notebook she kept above the kitchen sink in which she kept track of every time the water was bad. “Water turned black and has bad smell. Water getting blacker. 11:30 p.m.,” read a recent entry.

The couple’s two children, Christopher and Charity, had suffered from rashes and diarrhea growing up. Christopher had nosebleeds, stomachaches, and a poor appetite from a young age. As a girl, Charity had allergies and a bout of difficulty breathing that required her to be in an oxygen tent for a week.

More recently, Charity and her husband had stopped coming over for dinner on Sundays, because they and their two young children got sick after every visit. They complained that Carmelita was serving them rotten food. She was mortified. Then it dawned on her and Ernie that they’d been putting ice cubes from their refrigerator’s ice maker in everyone’s pop. “It was stinking up our house, and we’d let them eat the ice,” Ernie said bitterly.

Thompson was moved by how much Carmelita and Ernie had been through. Before he stood up to leave he promised to help them. In just a few hours, the couple had opened their lives to him, after welcoming him into their home, which he now viewed as one giant piece of evidence.






CHAPTER 2

When he started practicing law in West Virginia in 2002, Thompson formed a partnership with an attorney named Marty Smith in Charleston, the state capital. But he rarely used their office. His environmental cases had drawn him to Mingo County, a ninety-minute drive south on Route 119, and to be near his clients he started working out of an old hotel in Williamson, the county seat. The city of 3,300 lay in a bowl surrounded by hills with uneven ridges, and one side was lined by a concrete flood wall next to the Tug Fork. The dusty streets and weathered brick buildings gave the city the washed-out look of a patient whose life had been draining away for years. Most storefronts along East Second Avenue, the city’s most vibrant stretch, had been taken over by lawyers, including one who promoted himself as “The Car Wreck King!” At one end of the avenue was a Goodwill and a concrete bridge that crossed into Kentucky. At the other end, trees of heaven grew inside the walls of an old bottling plant and Norfolk Southern trains loaded with coal eased out of town from a rail yard that was one of the largest on the railroad’s Ohio-to-Virginia line.

Whenever he was in Williamson, Thompson booked room 309 at the Mountaineer Hotel. The tan-brick, five-story hotel had a blue-neon Art Deco sign on its awning and a ground-floor barbershop. A local lawyer named Mark Mitchell had recently bought the 1920s-era building and planned to restore it to its former brilliance. In the meantime, it was a faded gem—the hallways had no carpeting, many rooms didn’t have heat, and there were few guests other than visiting railroad employees. For Thompson’s purposes, however, the Mountaineer was ideal. Mitchell charged him forty dollars a night, and Thompson didn’t mind the bare-bones accommodations or the fact that practically no one stayed there. The city’s other hotel, the Sycamore Inn, attracted more business, but its owner had politely asked Thompson not to eat at the restaurant, fearing some of his customers wouldn’t be happy with him serving an environmental lawyer. Thompson was obsessed with security, and he also liked that Mitchell had installed keypad locks at the hotel’s front and side entrances.

The Mountaineer was only a few yards from the Mingo County Courthouse, a limestone building from the 1960s with flat, stylized columns on its facade. Between the two was the Coal House, built during the Great Depression from sixty-five tons of locally mined coal to showcase the region’s best-known industry. The rectangular structure with an arched entrance housed the Tug Valley Chamber of Commerce. Out in front, a statue of Chief Logan, an eighteenth-century Cayuga leader affiliated with the Mingo tribe, stood in an aqua-blue fountain, frozen midstride in his buckskins and gazing across East Second Avenue toward the Mountaineer’s parking garage, where Mark Mitchell often parked his silver DeLorean.

Thompson’s first two lawsuits in Mingo County each involved a single landowner and simple claims of ground contamination, and he’d partnered with a lawyer from New Orleans and another from West Virginia. After a few visits to Rawl, it was obvious to him that he would need even more backing for the case against Massey. Only a big firm would be able to shoulder enough of the workload and costs. At a minimum, the case was going to require engineering and medical experts and law associates to review West Virginia case law on proving a toxic tort, a lawsuit in which people claim that their exposure to a chemical or dangerous substance caused their illness.

Thompson persuaded Van Bunch, a partner at Bonnett, Fairbourn, Friedman & Balint, PC, to drive five and a half hours to Williamson from his home in Signal Mountain, Tennessee, a suburb of Chattanooga, to meet with Ernie and Carmelita. Bunch was a liberal, a runner, and a committed environmentalist—he had been a founding member of the Green Party of Tennessee. A Deadhead since his first Grateful Dead show, in 1977, at the Fox Theatre in Atlanta, he was also a highly respected class-action litigator whose firm, based in Phoenix, had won billion-dollar settlements against the nation’s biggest insurance companies. Thompson himself had once worked with Bunch on an insurance-related case in New Orleans. They were little more than friendly acquaintances by now, but Thompson knew Bunch’s reputation, and he hoped that after years of high-stakes cases against the insurance, real estate, and securities industries, the prospect of representing people in rural West Virginia, some of whom lived at or below the poverty line, would appeal to him.

On a chilly, overcast day in April, about three months after Thompson’s first visit to Larry’s church, the two lawyers drove to Ernie and Carmelita’s house. In borrowed coveralls, they climbed onto two four-wheelers behind Ernie and B.I., who had his white hat on again. The four-wheelers scrambled up a rocky trail behind Ernie’s house, maneuvering around switchbacks and climbing up the mountain until B.I. cut his engine to point out thin plumes of smoke rising through some leaves. An underground mine fire had been consuming a coal seam for years, he and Ernie explained. Thompson had brought along a video camera, and he taped the smoke coming out of the ground, panning across the hillside.

At the top of the ridge, the men joined a network of trails that had been carved by ATV riders, weaving between the scrubby vegetation of a former surface mine. There were no other riders out. Ernie and B.I. drove to the northeast-facing side of the ridge and turned off their engines. Down in the valley was a tall, green, windowless building and a cluster of smaller ones. This industrial complex was the Sprouse Creek Processing Co. coal-preparation plant, a part of Rawl Sales, where the company cleaned the coal from area mines so that it could be shipped to customers. To the west of the plant, at a slightly higher elevation, was the impoundment, which resembled a dark-blue lake, with one side supported by an earthen dam with terraces down the valley. Tucked among the hills, the entire operation was invisible from Rawl and the other three communities along Route 49.

To Thompson, the impoundment seemed far away from Rawl, but he had no idea how far slurry could travel underground. He added that to the list of questions he planned to ask the environmental engineer and consultant he’d been working with since 2002: Scott Simonton, a former Marine with degrees in civil and environmental engineering who now taught at Marshall University in Huntington, an hour and a half north of Williamson.

Ernie and B.I. didn’t think that leaks from the impoundment alone had caused the area’s water contamination. As they took the two lawyers around, both Ernie and B.I. suggested that Rawl Sales had directly pumped coal waste from its processing plant into the hills. To Thompson, the final stop on the tour was the most intriguing. Ernie and B.I. drove to a place in the woods where two eight-inch-diameter pipes were sticking out of the ground. Ernie had heard a rumor that the company had drilled holes around the banks of the impoundment to drain slurry so the reservoir wouldn’t become full. But these pipes were nowhere near the impoundment. B.I. believed that they were, in fact, slurry injection sites and that the company had covered the mountains with them. He said he had once been out hunting when he surprised two security guards for the company patrolling the area with AK-47s.

Thompson didn’t quite know what to make of these theories. Ernie’s sounded possible; B.I.’s was more outlandish. Thompson and Bunch searched the surrounding area for any pipes that might have transported slurry all this way, but they found nothing. For all Thompson knew, these holes might have been drilled by a natural gas company, or been used by Rawl Sales for some other purpose. Why would the company pump slurry into the hills when they’d built an impoundment to store it?

Back at the Browns’ place, Ernie and Carmelita gave Bunch the same tour they had given Thompson. The house still had the same pungent rotten egg smell, and Thompson watched as Bunch’s face registered astonishment when he walked in. In the kitchen, with its pink countertops, Carmelita showed Thompson and Bunch a collection of mason jars filled with her tap water lined up on the windowsill. When she gave the jars a shake, black particles rose up and turned the water gray. She unscrewed a lid, and the water still had a chemical odor. Thompson had already confirmed on his own that other homes had similarly bad water that came out oily and gray or rust-brown.

Sitting around the kitchen table and hearing about the Browns’ problems with their water, Bunch began to see the mason jars—and the Browns’ house itself—as evidence, just as Thompson had. Bunch had grown up in Tennessee, and his voice still had some Appalachia in it as he looked at Ernie, Carmelita, and B.I. and said: “I’m going to help y’all. I’m going to help y’all get clean water.”



Back in Williamson, the lawyers traded notes at Starters, a sports bar half a block from the courthouse. The Rawl Sales operation was clearly the only industrial site in the area, and so far, the company’s impoundment was the prime suspect for the contaminated wells, though it was hard to see how slurry from that distant lake could end up in the jars above the Browns’ kitchen sink. One thing had stunned Bunch, and he mentioned it to Thompson: the mountain was on fire. If there were hidden fires, could there also be hidden slurry?

Bunch told Thompson he would talk to his partners and, if they gave the green light, he’d have an agreement drawn up for how Thompson’s and Bunch’s firms would split costs. They both thought the lawsuit should be filed as a class action. Eventually they could sign up as many people as possible in the four communities, but, to start, they would need only a few named plaintiffs on a complaint. That left plenty to do. They had to get several sets of well tests, collect medical records and property deeds, take depositions. Hire experts in mining, toxicology, and epidemiology, as well as someone who could calculate economic losses, such as the decline in value of a house without drinkable water.

As they ate chicken tenders and salads and drank beers, Bunch tempered Thompson’s enthusiasm, reminding him that the litigation could take several years and that he still needed approval from his partners to invest staff and resources in the case. Even though Bunch was more sober-minded, he had seen enough to make him think there could be a strong case. Bunch suspected his partners in Phoenix would like the idea of going after Massey, a company with billions of dollars in annual revenue that could afford to pay for the inconvenience and suffering it had caused along Route 49.

Thompson said the company could start by doing something it had so far refused to do: give people bottled water to drink. In his view, the situation at the Browns in particular was dire. “Priority number one is clean fucking water,” he said.



On April 23, 2004, with the support of Larry, Ernie, B.I., and a few others, Thompson sent a letter to Massey’s headquarters in Richmond, Virginia, demanding replacement drinking water for the four communities within twenty-four hours. The letter asked Massey to provide a clean, permanent water supply, to regularly test the communities’ water, to treat any coal slurry leaking from the impoundment, and to put out the mine fires in the area. Finally, Thompson requested that Massey set up a medical monitoring program to protect residents from “ill health effects” they might develop from the contaminated water.

“My clients and their families depend for their daily existence on water drawn from wells that have been contaminated by the mining operations of Rawl Sales and Processing,” Thompson wrote. “The contaminated water table in the Rawl, Lick Creek, Merrimac, and Sprigg communities presents a threat to the environment and human health. I hope that we can work together to abate this dangerous public nuisance.”

The letter was bold in its demands, given that Thompson was just starting to gather evidence. But the letter did something else: it took the years of frustration and the growing fears of health problems in the communities and focused them into a single threat of litigation the company couldn’t ignore.

About a week later, a faxed version of Thompson’s letter reached Don Blankenship’s desk at his office in Belfry, Kentucky, along Route 119 south of Williamson. It was the CEO’s habit to write instructions on faxes. As Thompson would later learn, Blankenship wrote a single word in the margin of his letter: “Shane.”

Shane Harvey, Massey’s general counsel, replied to Thompson on May 10. Harvey, who was in his thirties but had the sober demeanor and close-cropped hair of a recent ROTC cadet, claimed to share Thompson’s sense of urgency. “Please contact me immediately with your proof that the water is unsafe and your proof that the water has been contaminated by Rawl Sales & Processing,” Harvey wrote. “We take this matter seriously and encourage you to be open and forthcoming in providing the information necessary to evaluate the issues you have raised.”

Harvey’s request for proof laid bare Thompson’s biggest challenge. To force any action from Massey, he needed to present clear evidence that the company was responsible for the water contamination and likely had been negligent in letting it happen.

Even then, Massey was sure to put up a fight.






CHAPTER 3

Thompson soon learned that many of the 700 or so people living in 250 homes between the hills along Route 49 had been trying to get clean drinking water for so long that they had given themselves a name: the Forgotten Communities.

One of his first guides through this history was B.I. Sammons, who lived in Lick Creek, four miles east of Williamson. Thompson almost missed the turnoff where the road had been rerouted years ago. Around a tall stand of bushes, there were trailers and other homes along a paved road. A creek ran down the middle of the hollow, and Thompson had to cross a concrete slab bridge to park at B.I.’s home. The two-story house, yellow with brown trim, would have fit in on any suburban street. But as he walked up to the front door, Thompson saw that the paint was flaking and the brick steps he stood on were crumbling. Inside, a stuffed fox with a squirrel in its mouth collected dust on a shelf, and three or four trucker hats, all white, were lined up on the back of the living room couch.

Thompson never knew what to make of the older man’s conspiratorial stories. One of B.I.’s most lurid tales involved bodies being dropped from helicopters into the Rawl Sales impoundment to cover up murders. B.I.’s own past wasn’t spotless. A former deputy sheriff, he had been indicted in the 1980s, along with more than fifty other local officials and residents of the town of Kermit, when federal prosecutors cracked a drug ring and exposed widespread corruption in the county. B.I. had pleaded guilty to taking a five-hundred-dollar bribe, and court records showed that he had spent some time at a minimum-security prison camp for nonviolent offenders in Terre Haute, Indiana. The lawyer seeking clemency for him at the time had been Michael Thornsbury, who was now the county’s circuit court judge. In the mid-1990s, while working as a coal truck driver, B.I. had fallen from a truck onto his back and suffered a concussion and memory loss—he had no recollection of being arrested and serving time.

A good deal of what B.I. said about the water, however, Thompson couldn’t dismiss. B.I.’s wife, Deborah, was a nurse, and her records of the family’s many health problems matched B.I.’s descriptions: headaches, rashes, infections, and diarrhea that she attributed to “being in the water,” as well as trips to the emergency room for their son and daughter, who suffered from fevers and infections. Their dentist had said their children “had the softest teeth he had ever seen,” she recalled. B.I. didn’t spare any details. One night his son had woken up with a fever, screaming in pain. He had pus coming out of his penis. A doctor had confirmed the boy had a urinary tract infection.

B.I. said his water had gone bad in the early 1990s but that people had known about risks well before that. He told Thompson about a morning in 1984 when he woke up to find the creek in front of his house flooded with coal slurry. This story also sounded far-fetched to Thompson at first, but others corroborated the accident. Somewhere above Lick Creek, a slurry line had ruptured in the night and by morning black sludge filled the length of the hollow and was flowing into the Tug Fork. Rawl Sales had brought backhoes and other equipment to clean up the spill, but the creek wasn’t the same afterward. B.I. said he used to catch “minners” at the edge of his yard to use for bait, but after the spill the fish never came back. It was clear this loss pained him, on top of everything he believed his family had been through as a result of the water. Some of B.I.’s friends told Thompson he could believe about half of what B.I. said. But even that, Thompson had come to realize, was an alarming amount of suffering.

By the late 1980s, other people living along Route 49 found that their water occasionally began to smell and look rusty or gray. Those who could afford it bought cases of bottled water at Walmart or Big Lots, and others filled jugs at a spring off Route 49. Thompson was stunned to learn that many people had been forced to pay for bottled water for years, replace filters frequently on their wells, and buy new dishwashers and water heaters that wore out quicker because of the water. One man had replaced his water heater three times in twelve years. Mingo County was one of the poorest counties in the nation; in 1990, nearly a third of its 33,500 residents lived below the poverty line. Thompson told people he met with in the four communities to pull together any receipts they had kept for bottled water, water filters, and plumbing fixtures.

People had complained to Rawl Sales, but the company had apparently always denied that any of its mining activities or coal processing had affected any wells. Back in the 1980s, Carmelita had called Rawl Sales and asked a mining engineer to test their well. An employee came to take water samples periodically but never gave her any results. In 1987, Ernie was so frustrated that he and Carmelita had never received any information that he chased the man from their property and told him not to return.

B.I. took Thompson to the home of his neighbor Maude Rice, a widow with a white perm who lived in a neat brick home with wood paneling and springy floors. Polite but tough, Rice explained that she had sued Rawl Sales in 1995, alleging that its mining activities had contaminated her well water, which had started to smell like sulfur. Her complaints, along with B.I.’s, prompted the state to send a geologist to study about three dozen wells in Lick Creek that year. The geologist found that Rice’s well was likely affected by an abandoned mine in the Pond Creek seam, and another well at the home of Julius Cooper had probably been affected by an abandoned mine in the Alma seam. The mines were in two of the nine major coal seams—layered like the icing in a cake—that had been mined extensively in the area since the early 1900s. Bacteria that converted sulfates into hydrogen sulfide likely accounted for the rotten egg odor in many of the area’s wells, he noted.

The state expert concluded that only Cooper’s well had been affected by pre-1977 mining, which would make Cooper eligible, under the Surface Mining Control and Reclamation Act of 1977, to receive federal money to get a new well or replacement water. Thompson didn’t know whether Cooper was ever able to tap those funds, but he doubted it because he later found a letter from December 1995 in which Cooper had appealed directly to Don Blankenship to help him pay for a new well.

Still, the state report gave Thompson the first hard evidence of slurry injection. The geologist had noted that Rawl Sales had pumped slurry into the abandoned Pond Creek mine works through a single hole at the head of Lick Creek in the early 1980s, and he mentioned the slurry spill there in 1984. He had concluded that the slurry in the old mine likely hadn’t affected most wells he sampled. Thompson wasn’t so sure.

By the mid-1990s, B.I. and a handful of his neighbors were determined to get help from the county or state to pay for a municipal water line that would carry clean drinking water from Williamson or Matewan, ten miles to the southeast. But for years, they got nowhere. One of B.I.’s allies in the campaign for clean water was James “Bo” Scott, another former Massey miner who lived in Rawl. A towering man with a beard of gray stubble, Bo explained to Thompson that Massey would never admit that its operations had contaminated drinking water—even if the cost was minimal. This was how the company maintained its dominance in the coalfields, he said.

“Massey has always been this way. I will spend ten thousand dollars just to keep from paying you a hundred dollars,” Bo said. “To show you that I can beat you.”

Bo spoke from experience: he’d spent years fighting Massey over injuries he’d received in 1996, when he had been a foreman at a mine across the border in Kentucky. A state inspector had shut the mine because the sandstone roof was unstable. The company was using a dangerous technique known as retreat mining, in which miners work their way out of the mine, removing coal pillars and letting the roof collapse in stages behind them. This allowed the company to extract more coal, but there was nothing left to hold the mountain up. As Bo told it, a supervisor ordered him and two contractors to reenter the mine and see what repairs were needed for the mine to reopen. After they went in, the roof caved in. One rock crushed Bo, pinning him down and severing an artery in his left leg. After he was freed, he was rushed to Williamson Memorial Hospital for emergency surgery. Doctors put thirty-two stitches and sixteen clamps into his leg. “I like to bled to death,” he said. The first visitor in his hospital room was the mine’s superintendent, Bo said, and he made it clear the company wouldn’t take responsibility for sending the men underground again. Massey fought Bo for more than five years over his workers’ compensation benefits, until he had finally prevailed at the Supreme Court of Kentucky.

Bo walked with a limp and had lost feeling in his damaged leg, and now he stayed busy preaching at area churches. Bo had been friends with Ernie Brown since they were kids, and he still had a photo of students from different grades standing on the steps of the elementary school in Cinderella, another nearby coal camp. With their buzz cuts and sharp plaid shirts, the two friends wear big smiles, as does a young Larry Brown, two grades higher. All these years later, Ernie and Bo had both suffered disabling injuries in Massey mines. And all three men now had tainted water running through their homes.

In the late 1990s, the Williamson Daily News carried articles in which Bo argued that blasting on Rawl Sales’ surface mine above the hollow had contaminated people’s wells. From 1998 to 2002, he wrote letters to the county’s three commissioners, as well as to his congressman and West Virginia’s two senators, but they offered little or no assistance.

On February 23, 2000, Senator Robert Byrd, known as the “King of Pork” for bringing billions of dollars to West Virginia for the dozens of buildings, bridges, and expressways that bore his name, replied that he’d help if an appropriate sponsor contacted him. “Most Americans take safe drinking water for granted,” Senator Byrd wrote. “Unfortunately, we in West Virginia know all too well that safe drinking water is not one of life’s certainties.” That same year, when the state failed to approve a Small Cities Block Grant to fund a water line to Lick Creek, the county’s commissioners wrote to Governor Cecil Underwood. “These people are desperate for a safe, potable water supply now, not in the future,” the commissioners wrote. “We do not know where to turn from here.”

In 2001, the state hired a civil engineering firm to study the need for a municipal water line to the four communities. The report found “severe problems with ground water sources within the study area” caused by the decades of coal mining prior to 1977, rather than Rawl Sales’ more recent activities. The “only acceptable and viable resolution,” the firm concluded, was a water line from Williamson at a cost of nearly $2.7 million, or about $10,692 per household. That was the price for safe drinking water. The project would be eligible for federal funds, because the firm concluded that the water had been degraded by mining that took place decades earlier. Yet when Thompson read the report, he noticed there were no references to “slurry” or “injection,” even though a Rawl Sales official was listed as having been interviewed.

But still no water came. When the state failed to take action, Bo and B.I. were so exasperated that they threatened to secede from the state of West Virginia and join Kentucky. B.I. told a reporter for the Lexington Herald-Leader he would have no trouble getting 750 people in the communities to sign a petition to leave West Virginia. No elected official on either side of the Tug Fork took the men seriously. On January 24, 2002, Joe Manchin, then West Virginia’s secretary of state, wrote to Bo and said he admired his “true Mountaineer spirit,” but he couldn’t intervene.

In a final act of desperation, someone—all these years later, it wasn’t clear exactly who—had a six-foot-wide, red-and-white sign printed. The person planted their plea in the weeds near the turnoff to Lick Creek:


COMMUNITIES FORGOTTEN

PLEASE SUPPORT

LICK CREEK - RAWL

MERRIMAC - SPRIGG

GETTING A WATER SYSTEM



It was a sign that Don Blankenship himself would have passed regularly, coming from his home in Sprigg, a few miles to the east on Route 49.






CHAPTER 4

Thompson had a long way to go to prove that Rawl Sales was responsible for the discolored water coming out of his clients’ taps. But he had plenty of evidence that Massey had been having problems with other slurry impoundments in the region.

One of the worst environmental disasters in US history had struck just after midnight on October 11, 2000, when a Massey impoundment in Martin County, Kentucky, ruptured and sent more than 300 million gallons of coal slurry through old mine workings and out the side of a hill. Slurry was sucked from the reservoir like bathwater draining from a tub, until workers finally plugged the hole. The sludge polluted more than a hundred miles of streams, killing fish and other aquatic life. Hours after the accident, slurry lining creeks and coating streets and properties looked like a vast flow of lava. In one neighborhood, the sludge rose to the rim of a basketball hoop. Massey called the impoundment breakthrough “an act of God.” But perhaps the only divine action was that no one was killed or seriously injured. The federal Mine Safety and Health Administration, or MSHA, part of the Department of Labor, then headed by Elaine Chao, the wife of Kentucky senator Mitch McConnell, fined Massey $110,000. A Kentucky judge cut that to $5,600. (Massey paid $3.5 million in state fines and $46 million for the cleanup, both of which were covered by its insurance companies.)

Thompson knew the devastation had raised alarms about the dangers of impoundments across the Appalachian coalfields. Several groups, including the Ohio Valley Environmental Coalition (OVEC), set up the Sludge Safety Project to help communities affected by impoundments and coal slurry and to press for stronger government oversight. When activists learned that people in Rawl with contaminated wells were living near another Massey impoundment, they went to meet with B.I., Larry Brown, and others. It was Vivian Stockman, the head of OVEC, who’d first suggested to B.I. in early 2004 that he call Thompson, after she heard about his settlement with Arch Coal.

A few months earlier, a stream ecologist from Wheeling Jesuit University, Ben Stout, had driven down from the state’s northern panhandle to find out what was happening with people’s water in Mingo County. Stout, a wiry man with a bright smile and an earnest face weathered from fieldwork, was arguably the foremost expert in West Virginia on coal slurry impoundments and the effects of mining on streams. He tracked impoundment accidents on a poster in his lab classroom in Wheeling. The first entry was the infamous Buffalo Creek disaster in 1972: a Pittston Coal slurry dam in Logan County had burst, and 132 million gallons of slurry swept through a hollow, killing 125 people. Massey Energy had been responsible for more than half of the fifty-three smaller spills that had occurred since, Stout had found.

Thompson heard from Ernie and Carmelita Brown that Stout had knocked on their door just a few weeks before Thompson himself visited them. Carmelita wouldn’t let Stout in at first, because she thought he might work for Massey. But she changed her mind when she saw a female graduate student, Jomana Papillo, with him—Carmelita didn’t think Massey would hire a woman as an engineer. Stout took samples of the Browns’ well and sent them to an independent lab. The results revealed high levels of iron, manganese, arsenic, and sodium, and lower levels of barium and aluminum. The levels varied widely on different days; each sample was like a snapshot of the metals in the water at that moment. Stout was also disturbed by the levels of hydrogen sulfide permeating their home, which he determined were higher than the federal limits for workplaces. He spent days taking water samples from another dozen homes, from the creeks that ran through Rawl and Lick Creek, and from the Tug Fork. When he got those results back from a lab, he called all the families and warned them not to drink the water or use it for any purpose, if they could help it.



Thompson was eager to see what Stout would find across the four communities. In the meantime, he continued to interview people about their water and their health. OVEC’s organizing had given Thompson a head start, and Ernie and B.I. went door-to-door, asking people to fill out a detailed health survey. They eventually brought him more than a hundred responses. He knocked on doors and met with people in their homes. Most welcomed him, but some regarded him with suspicion, referring to him when he wasn’t around as “the lawyer from Louisiana.” What residents wanted most, Thompson came to realize, was to protect their family’s well-being. Though they appreciated the help of young activists, few members of the community saw themselves as environmentalists. For them, taking on Massey wasn’t about saving a mountain. It was about making a coal company do the right thing.

As much as people took pride in coal mining, there was also distrust toward coal companies that went back generations. Larry Brown told Thompson about his grandfather, who had come to the area seeking work in the 1920s and had taken a job manning a conveyor system that hauled coal over the hills above Rawl. After his grandfather was struck in the head on two occasions by a heavy piece of machinery, the company fired him without providing any benefits. “They treated people like they were nobodies, just dumb hillbillies,” Larry said. In the next breath, he said he was a hillbilly. In the early 1970s, he and Brenda had moved away to try life elsewhere, and he took a job as a laborer for the navy building nuclear submarines in Connecticut. But after a year, the couple returned to the place that was home. If the word “hillbilly” had any meaning at all, Larry seemed to say, it meant someone who loved living among these hills.

He and Brenda had paid a high price for coming home. Normally a fast-talker with a mischievous side, Larry got serious when he blamed his well water for the boils and rashes and stomach problems they’d been enduring. He said he wondered now if the water had caused his daughter’s miscarriages or the seizures his son had growing up. Brenda’s niece Chastity Dawn Prince had died at age four of a rare kidney cancer. The girl had visited Larry and Brenda several times a week, sleeping over and drinking their well water along with the rest of the family. Thompson told Larry he would look into filing a wrongful death claim on her behalf if he found a link between the water and her cancer. The scope of the case, Thompson was starting to realize, could extend to people who’d lived in the communities in the past, and others who had visited regularly.

Thompson knew that as one of the most respected members of the community, Larry would be a key plaintiff. Larry said he wasn’t afraid of suing Massey; his faith had made him fearless. He’d been born again one afternoon in 1977, when he was working on a crew paving roads in Williamson. As he bent down to take a drink at a water fountain, a voice told him to pray. As Larry told it, the world around him became more vibrant, and all his interactions with people took on deeper meaning. Soon with the help of his family and neighbors, he built the church next to his double-wide. Now on Wednesday and Friday evenings, he played guitar for a handful of people who sang along and stood up to testify. He lit up when he recalled taking people down to the river to baptize them anytime they were willing, day or night. “I been there when it’s thundering and lightning and storming,” Larry said. “People say, ‘Ain’t you scared?’ I say, ‘What you scared of? If He’s going to take us, man, what a way to go! We’re in His Will.’ ”



In order to build his case, Thompson needed to go beyond people’s health and find out how the water had affected their property and work lives. He also needed to become more familiar with the history of mining in the area and how interwoven it was with his clients’ lives. He met other former miners like Frank Coleman, who lived at the mouth of Rawl in a gray house with a cinder-block first floor. Coal miners would have the most credibility in front of a jury, Thompson reasoned, because they would be perceived as being the least likely people to bring a frivolous water contamination lawsuit against a coal company. They also knew more intimately than anyone how coal was mined and cleaned. Years after he quit working underground, Coleman said he could hear trains go by on the other side of Route 49 and know from the sound of the wheels if the cars were loaded with coal or not.

Coleman had thinning reddish hair and the watchful eyes of someone who had been in his share of fights. “Been fightin’ all my life,” he said in a husky voice. He had grown up poor and white in Matewan, in a community that was referred to at the time as the “colored coal camp,” a reminder of the days when coal companies segregated miners. Most of his quarrels growing up were with his older brother, and another boy who challenged him to fights until Coleman knocked him out one day. He moved out of his mother’s house and started working in local mines before he was old enough to drive. Then, when he was still a teen, he left on a train from Matewan to serve in Vietnam. He told a cinematic tale of being captured by North Vietnamese soldiers, escaping, and finally getting shot while serving as a machine gunner on a Huey helicopter. After his discharge, he returned to Mingo County restless and full of anger and worked in the mines cutting coal. For a long time, the only peace he could find, he said, came from lying back in a canoe and floating down the Tug Fork.

Coleman had worked for a number of companies, including Massey, and like Ernie Brown, he had permanently injured his back. He took painkillers and, when he watched TV, propped his feet up on a coffee table to ease his discomfort. He thought his well water might have caused his stomach and kidney problems. One day, after cutting his lawn, he used his garden hose to cool off and let the water run over his face. When his eyes became infected, he blamed that on the water too. Another time, while he was cleaning a spill in his basement, some liquid from his hot water heater got into a cut on his right hand. An infection required several surgeries. Now the scars on the back of his hand turned white when he made a fist.

Thompson saw signs of the area’s mining past everywhere. Coleman explained that a flat rectangle in his yard marked the place where a company store had once stood. Across Dick Williamson Branch Road was a fenced-in property owned by Rawl Sales. A mine had closed there in the 1980s, Coleman said. During the 1977 flood, the Tug Fork had risen so high that the water came over Route 49 and covered the first floor of Coleman’s house, which Rawl Sales had owned at the time. Farther upstream, the company had put train engines on a bridge to keep it from being swept away. Coleman said hogs from Kentucky had been carried across the river and pulled into the old Rawl Sales mine.

Even residents who had prospered working for Massey often had complicated relationships with the company, as was the case with another former miner in Rawl, Donald Dillon. Well into his sixties but still sharp and fit, Dillon had worked for Massey as an electrician, a high-paying job in the mines. He had earned enough to buy two houses in Rawl and build a third that was the biggest in the hollow. Even so, Dillon didn’t trust Massey. He believed the company had fired him from a job when he was a few months short of the full vesting of his pension so it could save money. The decision had cost him about four hundred dollars every month since his retirement.

Dillon had the same self-reliant streak Thompson had seen in other people in the area. He said he’d been hot-tempered in his youth but he’d become more forgiving after he was born again and started attending church with his wife, Mary. Even so, he still carried a pearl-handled Derringer with two bullets in his front pocket.

Dillon also understood the effects of the water firsthand. He had grown up drinking from a well in Rawl, and he recalled that the water then was clean and “so cold it hurt your teeth.” Now it wasn’t fit to drink. He had burned through his share of water heaters and plumbing fixtures. And he was worried about Mary. She had been suffering from heart disease and cirrhosis of the liver, among other conditions, and she had been growing frailer each year. The affable Dillon became reticent when the subject of her health came up, and Thompson could feel his concern.

Dillon offered to drive Thompson around so the lawyer could better understand the terrain. Up until the 1980s, he explained, men living in Rawl had been able to get up in the morning and walk with a meal bucket to a mine portal, as two generations of miners had done before them. After their shifts, they washed at the mine’s bathhouse and walked back home for supper. Dillon had his own stories about slurry injection. In the 1980s, a crew of men had been forced to evacuate a Rawl Sales mine when slurry started flooding the active section. He said that another time the superintendent at the processing plant had been nearly killed when a slurry line blew up. Thompson took notes, and realized his own clients knew as much about the area’s mining as any experts he might find.

From Rawl, Dillon followed Route 49 south toward Merrimac. The narrow bumpy road hugged the mountain, with a wall of rock to the left and a bent guardrail on the right, the only thing keeping one from tumbling down to the river below. At Merrimac, houses and trailers were spread out on flat land near the river. Then they continued east toward Sprigg, where there was a cluster of homes tucked into a hill. The farthest one they came to belonged to Thelma Parsley. Through her kitchen window, Parsley could see the fairway-like lawn, the black electric gate beside Route 49, and the long drive up to the bright-green house where Don Blankenship lived. The old superintendent’s house had stood there since 1914, when it was built by U.S. Steel for an executive who founded the Crystal Block mining companies. Today, the property was called Crystal Acres.

Why would Blankenship continue living here, Thompson wondered, in one of the communities where people were getting sick from their well water? Parsley had the answer: she had watched construction workers lay pipe for a city water line from Matewan to the Tug Valley Country Club across the road and then to Blankenship’s house, where it ended. The water line didn’t reach Thelma Parsley’s place—or any of the homes of the other seven hundred people living between there and Lick Creek.



On September 16, 2004, Thompson sued Massey, with backing from Van Bunch’s law firm. He filed the lawsuit in Mingo County court as a class action, naming Larry Brown, B.I. Sammons, Frank Coleman, and three other residents as the plaintiffs.

Thompson had no smoking gun linking Massey to the contaminated water. Nevertheless he alleged that the company had conducted “negligent, dangerous, hazardous and/or ultra-hazardous mining activities in and around Rawl for the last 40 years.” He claimed that during the construction of its impoundment, Rawl Sales had drilled holes so excess slurry would drain into abandoned mine works below, the theory he got from Ernie Brown. Thompson said Rawl Sales negligently abandoned its mines, causing underground fires that destabilized the rock strata. Blasting on Massey’s property further shook the ground, he wrote. The resulting water contamination had led to diseases in his clients—B.I. Sammons and others had suffered from kidney stones, kidney failure, painful urination, chronic diarrhea, and even cancer, Thompson wrote—and rendered their properties worthless. As he had mentioned in his letter to Massey that spring, he and Bunch wanted the company to fund a medical monitoring program so doctors could screen the residents for illnesses caused by the water.

In the twenty-four-page lawsuit, Thompson claimed that Massey managers knew or should have known that their activities would result in an increased risk of disease. He alleged that the company violated the state’s surface mining law; its groundwater protection act and water pollution control act; and a state law requiring the preservation of natural streams. On top of that he included a count of “tort of outrage,” a count of unjust enrichment, and damages from personal injury and the loss of property, plus punitive damages for Massey’s “intentional, grossly negligent and reprehensible actions.”

Thompson filed the lawsuit electronically. It was like launching a stone from a distance: nothing would happen for a while. But eventually the giant would feel the blow and respond.






CHAPTER 5

Thompson’s hometown of Point Pleasant, on the Ohio River 120 miles north of Williamson, was surrounded by farms, iron foundries, and power plants. It was a world away from the southern coalfields. The family’s ranch house on a corner lot had a sloping gray roof and two-car garage, and the backyard ran down to some woods and a Defense Department strategic materials depot, with long single-story buildings surrounded by a double fence topped with barbed wire and under constant guard, which became a source of fascination. In the afternoons, when Thompson got home from school, he typically watched cartoons with his father, whose shift ended early. A block away, Ordnance Elementary School was surrounded by baseball and football fields, and there were always kids around for pickup games. In fifth grade, Thompson tried to stop his friends from ripping out a sapling at the edge of the fields to make way for an end zone. He later referred to the incident as his first environmental stand. He watched as his friends bent the tree down and ripped it out. “I failed to protect the landscape,” he joked later. “It’s bare today.”

Kevin Wayne Thompson was born on May 25, 1963, at St. Mary’s Hospital in Huntington, West Virginia. His father, Carl, a radiologist, and his mother, Vada, adopted him days after his birth. Thompson later said his parents told him early on that he’d been adopted, and he never had a desire to track down his birth parents. Both of Thompson’s adoptive grandfathers were troopers with the West Virginia State Police—one was nicknamed Snake, the other Slim. They told stories at the dinner table about moonshining, gambling, and organized crime. The men helped instill the belief in their grandson that coal companies frequently did more harm than good. One grandfather told a story about investigating an explosion that had ripped through a coal mine. After going undercover, he learned that a manager had set the charge himself to frame the mine workers’ union. The union, however, didn’t fare much better in the family’s estimation. Thompson learned that one of the most dangerous places for a state trooper to be was on a picket line keeping the peace between striking miners and company security guards.

From an early age, Thompson knew that coal drove the state’s politics, and that the farther south one traveled in West Virginia the more sway it held. Thompson’s mother, Vada Wilkerson, had been raised in a coal camp near Fayetteville, about an hour southeast of Charleston, in the 1930s. (By a strange coincidence, Fayetteville was the town where the founder of Massey Energy, A. T. Massey, had once run a coal company store. After it burned down, he moved to Richmond, Virginia, where he started a small coal brokerage that would go on to become one of the nation’s biggest coal companies.) She often told her son stories about the local coal company’s influence in the town. Even though her father was a state trooper, Vada was lower in the social order than the children of the men who oversaw the local mines. She remembered that Patty Holt, whose father was superintendent of the local mine and who was thought to be related to the governor of West Virginia, Homer A. Holt, sat in front of her in junior high. Because her family didn’t have indoor plumbing, Vada usually bathed once a week. At the end of one of those weeks, Patty Holt raised her hand and asked the teacher to have Vada moved farther away from her, because she smelled bad. Vada shrank inside and her face flushed. She felt the other girl had intended to humiliate her in front of her classmates. Rather than defend her, the teacher bowed to Patty Holt’s wishes and asked Vada to move to a seat in the back of the classroom. Vada said nothing and moved. But the moment became frozen in time, and it never lost its power in the retelling. Thompson, who heard the story often in his childhood, held on to its message, just as his mother had: the coal industry had empowered a select group of people who often used that power, in both consequential and petty ways, to oppress others.

By the time Thompson was in high school, he was dreaming of becoming a broadcast journalist. He saw himself as a foreign correspondent reporting on terror plots in the Middle East and coups in Africa, the camera bringing his face into millions of American living rooms. As a teenager with more immediate concerns, he discovered that traveling speech competitions offered the best way to meet girls from other schools. And he was good at giving speeches off the cuff. In his junior year, he won first place in a statewide competition in the Boys Extemporaneous category. Years later, Melba Lynn Shank, who sat next to him in English and Latin classes, still recalled his thick head of hair and clear speaking voice. “I could always picture him being a broadcaster, a weatherman,” she said.

Thompson studied broadcast journalism at Marshall University, but then he took the LSAT, partly because his father thought having a law degree was a good backup plan. Tulane University School of Law was the best-ranked school that accepted him, and he decided to go. Once there, Thompson fell in love with New Orleans, with its shotgun houses, narrow bayous, and vibrant nightlife. He drank hard and late into the night in uptown bars, shunning the tourist-jammed French Quarter, until, in his third year of law school, he signed up to row in a novice boat with the New Orleans Rowing Club. After that, he got up before dawn on rowing days. He liked the physical challenge of the sport as much as moving across the water in the early morning. He had grown up next to the Ohio River, and New Orleans, where those waters finally reached the Gulf of Mexico, felt like home.



Even as a law student, Thompson was ready to break from the traditional path most lawyers followed. Before he graduated from Tulane, he and a friend decided to start a business videotaping depositions for law firms. In the late 1980s, it was a novel idea, and the potential market—law firms across the United States—was massive. With minimal planning, Thompson and his friend Marko Markovich, a second-year MBA student, each put up $150. They checked out a video camera from the law school and hired an undergraduate communications major at $7 an hour. They walked the student through how to videotape a deposition, something neither had done before, and then they sent him out with equipment they didn’t own. The trial run—it was a divorce case—was a success. The partners started charging law firms $125 an hour. They came up with a logo and business cards and called the company Legal Process.

After Thompson graduated and passed the bar in the spring of 1988, he accepted a one-year position working in the antitrust division of the Office of the West Virginia Attorney General. He thought the job offered a chance to chase white-collar criminals, but after months in a basement indexing files, he was eager to get back to his fledgling business. He and Markovich soon opened offices in Baton Rouge and Chicago, and they started providing graphics and technicians to help attorneys make presentations during trials.

Thompson also put his tech savvy to use. When he learned that videotapes contained an unused audio track, he and Markovich invented a system that made their taped depositions searchable by keywords—the kind of functionality that only became common years later with digital recording. Their invention was the size of an arcade game, a clunky cabinet with a video screen, a knob, and a keyboard. It was so heavy that two people had to push it into a courtroom. But it struck fear into opposing lawyers because it enabled Thompson’s clients to challenge the testimony of a witness—sometimes while they were still on the witness stand. Thompson would type a few commands and give the knob a twist. Then he would let the jury watch the witness on the video screen say something damning or contradictory.

His consulting work let him observe hundreds of lawyers conduct depositions and handle witnesses and evidence in front of a jury. In the early 1990s, Legal Process taped some six thousand hours’ worth of depositions in the wave of breast implant litigation that was sweeping the country. Thompson was also making money faster than he could spend it. He worked long hours and then stayed up drinking and partying. He took dates to see his favorite band, the Radiators, play New Orleans–infused funk and swamp rock. When Thompson heard that Kim Basinger was in the city, he decided to ask her out if he ever ran into her, even though she was married. “I had resolved that she needed to meet me and take me as a lover,” he joked years later. One Saturday morning, he was at a coffee shop near his office and felt the eyes of all the women in the shop on him. He thought he must look irresistible in his new suit, which was an unusual shade of blue. Then he realized all the eyes were focused just behind him. He turned and saw Alec Baldwin, Basinger’s husband, standing in his own dark-blue suit. “This was Alec Baldwin in 1994,” Thompson said. “He was phenomenally handsome.” Thompson gave up his quest for Kim Basinger on the spot. “It sucks to have to wear a suit on a Saturday, doesn’t it?” he recalled Baldwin saying to him.

“Kevin’s always been a bit of a free spirit,” another former partner at Legal Process, Dan Regard, said. “A real affable person—an optimist, a people-oriented extrovert. Not an extrovert in a hard-charging way. The person who can walk into the room and become your best friend.”

At times, Thompson’s life resembled a cross between an Aaron Spelling TV drama and a gonzo version of the journalism career he had once dreamed of pursuing. When he joined two college friends for a night in Tijuana, one of them, a burly lawyer named John Alderman, gave the manager of a Dunkin’ Donuts five dollars to tell him where the “bad people” go. The three friends got blind drunk at a Polynesian-themed strip club, and Thompson ended up dancing naked after several women pulled him onstage. On his way out, a table of Americans handed him a baseball cap full of dollar bills. An older man in the group said, “Twenty years in the navy, and that’s the best floor show I’ve ever seen.”

Then a pair of events put the brakes on his lifestyle. In November 1994, Thompson went back to his parents’ house in Point Pleasant for Thanksgiving. The next day, after playing touch football, he went with his friend Alderman to a bar across the river in Gallipolis, Ohio, and met his future wife, Kathleen.

“He’s got his leather jacket on and his entourage with him and they come in and take over a table,” Kathleen recalled. She and Thompson talked all evening and for their first date the next day, he drove her out to the abandoned TNT factory outside Point Pleasant. “It was one of the most bizarre first dates you could have,” Kathleen said. The same night, while driving, Kevin and Kathleen saw a house on fire, and then a policeman stopped them. “He says, ‘Have you seen any legs across the road?’ And we’re like, ‘What?’ He said, ‘Somebody’s reported somebody’s dead up here with legs across the road.’ And Kevin and I are like, ‘Okay, that’s a little weird.’ ”

The TNT factory, an abandoned World War II–era munitions plant, was a throwback to Thompson’s childhood. In the fall of 1966, Point Pleasant was terrorized by a winged creature that young couples spotted nearby in the misty woods. Newspaper headlines fed the hysteria, and then a copyeditor gave the monster a name: the Mothman. That same year, UFO sightings proliferated near the site, which was an ideal setting for a paranormal encounter, with toxic pools and mysterious earth-covered concrete domes where explosives had been stored. People seemed to stop seeing the Mothman only after the Silver Bridge connecting Point Pleasant to Gallipolis collapsed during rush hour on December 15, 1967, killing forty-six people. Thompson’s father used to drive him through the TNT area, and the tales his sister Carlene told him about the monster gave him a thrill that never left him.

He and Kathleen never saw a dead body but they spent the night talking about growing up on opposite sides of the Ohio River. They realized that Kathleen’s father, who was an orthopedist, had worked with Thompson’s father. Then she realized that his sister was author Carlene Thompson, who wrote dark thrillers that she’d admired for years. Kathleen was blond and petite, with an intellect that matched Thompson’s. She worked for an insurance company in Columbus, Ohio, and had a two-year-old daughter named Kelsey. On the following Monday, Thompson was back in New Orleans and called her to ask her out to dinner. When Kathleen laughed and pointed out that they were hundreds of miles apart, Thompson said, “Not if you pick me up at the airport.” He booked a flight for the next day.

Two years later, the couple married on the Saturday after Thanksgiving. They bought a rambling three-story house in New Orleans that had been built in 1880 by a judge, and Kathleen filled it with books and dogs—Samson, a golden retriever, and Delilah, a Lab mix, and Thompson’s favorite, a gray cairn terrier named Blue. Like Thompson, Kathleen had an independent streak. She had grown up on a farm and was comfortable around guns. She owned a .45 Magnum and a black .38 Smith & Wesson with a wooden handle that she sometimes kept under her pillow when Thompson was out of town. A few months after the couple set up their home in New Orleans with Kelsey, Thompson’s father died, and the loss made him consider what direction his life should take.

From the start, Kathleen believed Thompson needed to pursue his career as a lawyer, because it made him come alive. “Kevin is at his sexiest when he’s taking on a company and rattling his saber in the courtroom,” she said. “Not when his hair is standing straight up on his head and he’s looking a little crazed.”

Instead, Thompson nearly made a deal that would’ve kept him out of the courtroom for the rest of his career. In 1997, Paul Orfalea, the founder of Kinko’s, offered to buy out Thompson and his two partners at Legal Process for $3 million. Thompson wanted to clinch the deal, but he and Markovich couldn’t agree on how to structure it. When they had formed the company, they had concocted a convoluted partnership agreement befitting a law student and a newly minted MBA. It included a nuclear clause that said that if either partner didn’t agree on something, he could blow up the company after giving twenty-four hours’ notice in writing. Thompson was furious, and he entered the launch codes. “I said, fuck you, I’m leaving. I’m taking my clients and forming a new company,” he recalled later.

Thompson called his new company Evidence Management. He hired a team of graphic designers to help him create trial materials for clients and an executive assistant to keep his schedule and paperwork straight. Kathleen quit her job with the insurance company, and she started working at the new company. For the first time, Thompson’s work and home life were in alignment. Sitting in his living room preparing some trial graphics on his laptop, he asked Kelsey, who was seven, which color to use. He started calling her the chief coloring officer.

The situation was bound to be short-lived, though, because Thompson wanted to play more than a supporting role for other lawyers. He wanted to go from taping depositions to conducting them, and be the one standing in a courtroom in front of a jury, taking on a powerful interest to make a difference in someone’s life. Despite the risks—or maybe because of them—once again he was ready to strike out on his own.



If Thompson hadn’t met a lawyer named Stuart Smith in 1999, he might never have started practicing environmental law. Smith had grown up in a blue-collar neighborhood in New Orleans and had retained the city’s working-class accent despite the wealth he had acquired winning verdicts against the country’s most powerful oil and gas companies. He had pioneered an entire field of environmental law after discovering widespread radioactive contamination in the nation’s oil fields. The radioactivity was in the salt water that came up when companies drilled for oil. The water left behind a deposit called “scale” on drill pipes, and the dust then got into workers’ lungs, causing cancer. Smith discovered that Big Oil had been aware of the problem but minimized it for years, never warning its own workers or the contractors who cleaned the pipes. Seven years earlier, Smith had settled a landmark case against Chevron in Laurel, Mississippi, for an undisclosed amount and started driving a Porsche coupe and living in a mansion in the French Quarter, as he recounted in his book Crude Justice. His modern office in a high-rise downtown had a broad view of the final miles of the Mississippi River.
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